
1 
 

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee 
 

Meeting Venue 
Teams  Live 

 

 
 

County Hall 
Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

 
Meeting Date 
Friday, 11 September 2020 

 
Meeting Time 
10.00 am 

 
For further information please contact 
Lisa Richards 
 
lisa.richards@powys.gov.uk 

 4 September 2020 
 

 

The use of Welsh by participants is welcomed. If you wish to use Welsh please 
inform us by noon, two working days before the meeting 

 

AGENDA 

 
1.  APOLOGIES  

 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
To receive declarations of interest from Members. 
 
 

3.  DISCLOSURE OF PARTY WHIPS  

 
To receive disclosures of prohibited party whips which a Member has been given in 
relation to the meeting in accordance with Section 78(3) of the Local Government 
Measure 2011. 
 
(NB:  Members are reminded that, under Section 78, Members having been given a 
prohibited party whip cannot vote on a matter before the Committee.) 
 
 

4.  MINUTES  

 
To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record. 
(Pages 3 - 8) 
 

5.  DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT  

Public Document Pack



 
To consider the Director of Social Services Annual Report. 
(Pages 9 - 48) 
 

6.  CARERS RESPITE POLICY  

 
To consider the report of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Services. 
(Pages 49 - 64) 
 

7.  ACCESS TO INFORMATION  

 
The Monitoring Officer has determined that category 3 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules applies to the following items. His view on the public interest test 
(having taken account of the provisions of Rule 14.8 of the Council's Access to 
Information Rules) was that to make this information public would disclose 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
These factors in his view outweigh the public interest in disclosing this information. 
Members are asked to consider these factors when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of 
the meeting. 
 
 

8.  VALUING CARE (RESIDENTIAL)  

 
To consider the report of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care. 
(Pages 65 - 72) 
 
 
 



CommitteeName MeetingDate 
 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
HELD AT  ON WEDNESDAY, 22 JULY 2020 

 
PRESENT 
County Councillor G I S Williams (Chair) 
 
County Councillors J Charlton, D E Davies, A Jenner, G Morgan, L Rijnenberg, 
K M Roberts-Jones, D Rowlands, A Williams, J M Williams and R Williams 
 
In attendance: County Councillors  
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders In Attendance:  
 
Officers: Alison Bulman 
 
Other Officers In Attendance:  
 
Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors S M Hayes, R Powell 
and MC Alexander 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  

 
The next meeting is scheduled to take place on Friday 11 September 2020 at 
10am. 

 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 
 

3.  DISCLOSURE OF PARTY WHIPS  

 
There were no disclosures of party whips. 

 
 

4.  11:00    FINANCIAL OUTTURN -2019/20  

 
Documents: 

 Financial Outturn – 2019/20 
 
Discussion: 

 Pressures of £6.25M in Children’s Services had been identified 

 Pressures of £9M Adult Services had also been identified but there was 
more confidence in the plans which had been put in place to mitigate 
those pressures 

 At the time the budget was agreed, the Section 151 Officer had insisted 
that a budget reserve be established which, whilst it would not cover all of 
the pressures identified in Children’s Services, it would offset some 
overspend.  This budget reserve was retained within the Corporate 
budget. 

Page 3

4



CommitteeName MeetingDate 
 

 

 The Committee would like to be informed of cost reductions made and in 
what particular area, and, similarly with those that had not been achieved.  
The Corporate Director indicated that a new tracking system was in place 
for the current year with workshops in August to allow officers to map risks 
and pressures for future years. 

 Some cost reductions were only achieved partially during the previous 
financial year but will be fully achieved during the current year 

 Members had had concerns about the ambitious nature of some of the 
proposed cost reductions. It was suggested that tracking of these could be 
undertaken through the relevant working group.  Discussions with partners 
to close some of the gaps were ongoing but it was acknowledged that the 
Covid pandemic had delayed some savings. 

 There was further concern that overspends occurred year on year and 
that this could not be allowed to continue.  Pressures must be recognised, 
and budgets set accordingly.  The Corporate Director reiterated that new 
processes had been implemented which recognised challenges and 
pressures.  When she had first come into post, there had been limited 
commissioning capacity within the service but positive investment has 
taken place and clear plans have been developed. 

 The targets which were set had not recognised the improvement journey – 
there had been £2.3M of cost reductions with no plans in place 

 It was acknowledged that the service was demand led and that presented 
a challenging in forecasting but there had been investment and 
improvement in preventative services.  It was key to ensure the correct 
models were in place.  Further work could be undertaken in the working 
groups in relation to managing demand. 

 The Committee were pleased to note that the reliance on agency workers 
was diminishing 

 An update on how many children were cared for out of county was being 
prepared and would be circulated.  The Children’s Services Working 
Group would consider this data alongside plans to return Children Looked 
After (CLA) to the County.  Caution was urged when considering those 
children who may be placed just outside of the county’s borders.  
Consideration would also be given to how the pandemic has affected 
numbers and forward planning as lockdown eases 

 Edge of Care was due to be reviewed and the findings would be 
presented to a future meeting 

 
 

5.  11:30    ANNUAL COMPLAINTS, COMPLIMENTS AND 
REPRESENTATIONS REPORT  

 
Documents: 

 Annual Complaints, Compliments and Representations Report 
 
Discussion: 

 The report is a statutory requirement which will be submitted to the CIW 
together with an improvement plan 

 The number of complaints has reduced over recent years, particularly 
within Children’s Services 

 The report highlights that early intervention is having an effect 

Page 4



CommitteeName MeetingDate 
 

 

 Themes relating to complaints have been identified.  One such theme 
relates to communication. There is a commitment to keep clients informed 
as continual dialogue gives assurance.  In the past some may have felt 
there was insufficient support to move issues forward.  A much more 
stable management tier is in place to offer such support. 

 The service has developed a culture of continuous improvement 

 Members asked if the complaints team was sufficiently independent as it 
sat within the Service.  Due to a reduction in capacity of the corporate 
complaints team, this function was transferred to Social Care in 2019.  
The complaints process is two stage – Stage 1 allows the service to put 
any complaint right.  Stage 2 consists of an independent review with the 
outcome reported to the Corporate Director. If the client is not satisfied 
with the resolution, they have the option to take their complaint to the 
Ombudsman. 

 It was suggested that there should be some form of advocacy available to 
complainants 

 The Committee asked if the outcomes of complaints were available to the 
public – this would not be appropriate due to confidentiality.  The annual 
report was the only publicly available document. 

 It was recognised that complaints can be seen as positive  
 
 

6.  12:00    CHOICE POLICY FOR ADULT SOCIAL CARE  

 
Documents: 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Services 
 
Discussion: 

 An assessment of need will also include emotional and psychological 
need 

 Where a client’s preferred choice is more expensive, a third party top up is 
sought.  If the first choice is no more cost effective and meets the clients 
needs, a top up is not appropriate. 

 The Committee were aware that there were a number of empty beds at 
the moment and questioned the sustainability of the market.  The 
Corporate Director, in acknowledging the significant capacity at the 
moment, informed the Committee that there had been a decrease in 
demand, any home with a case of Covid 19 was closed to new admissions 
and the criteria has changed during the pandemic.  Work is underway to 
assess the needs of the population. 

 Local culture and tradition was also an important consideration in 
delivering social policy in rural areas.  This was not clearly explained 
within the Impact Assessment.  The Corporate Director agreed to review 
the Impact Assessment. 

 An explanation of why the project had been classified as medium risk was 
sought.  The risk rating would be kept under review.  Any change of policy 
or practice carries a level of risk and this, coupled with a global pandemic 
has determined the level of risk.  If a client’s first choice is a home which is 
closed to admissions for 28 days, that choice cannot be met, and interim 
arrangements need to be in place to allow the client to be discharged from 
hospital. 

Page 5



CommitteeName MeetingDate 
 

 

 The financial implications were neutral, but the pandemic continues.  The 
Corporate Director believed the policy was transparent and made the best 
use of available resources for both the client and the service. 

 There were 37 care homes in the County.  Capacity was not shared 
evenly across those homes.  There was a greater impact on nursing 
homes.  The vacancy rate was higher than usual.  The market was fragile, 
and the pandemic has exacerbated this.  Support is being accessed 
through the Welsh Government’s Hardship Fund.  A breakdown of 
vacancies and whether these were nursing homes or residential homes 
would be circulated following the meeting. 

 
 

7.  12:20     TRACK, TRACE AND PROTECT  

 
The Committee received a presentation on Track, Trace and Protect. 
 
Discussion: 

 The Public Health Wales Plan was operational in Powys from 4 May 2020 

 It would be possible to increase capacity if there were to be a local spike 

 There had been 50 positive cases, of which 100% of contacts had been 
tracked 

 The advisers were all redeployed staff and it was not known how long they 
would be needed for 

 Testing was not available unless someone had symptoms.  Further 
information would be sought on private testing. 

 
 

8.  ACCESS TO INFORMATION  

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public for the following item of business on the 
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information 
under category 3 of The Local Authorities (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007). 

 
 

9.  12:40    CMHT IMPROVEMENT PLAN  

 
Documents: 

 CMHT Improvement Plan 
 
Discussion: 

 The Improvement Plan was developed following a routine inspection by 
CIW and Health Inspectorate Wales as the service is jointly run by Powys 
County Council and Powys Health Board 

 There were no statutory improvement notices 

 The Committee were briefed on the outcome of the inspection 
 
 

10.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 
 
 

Page 6



CommitteeName MeetingDate 
 

 

 
 

County Councillor G I S Williams (Chair) 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Director of Social Services Annual 
Report 2019/20    

Page 9

5



Powys County Council 

 

Contents   

 

Page 10



1. Director’s summary of performance   

2. Introduction    

3. How are people shaping our services?     

4. Promoting and improving the well-being of those we help   

(a) Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people wish 
to achieve   

(b) Working with people and partners to protect and promote people ’s physical and mental health 

and emotional well-being   

(c) Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm   

(d) Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society   

(e) Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal 
relationships   

(f) Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social life 
and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs   

  

5. How we do what we do   

(a) Our workforce and how we support their professional roles   

(b) Our financial resources and how we plan for the future   

(c) Our partnership working, political and corporate leadership, governance and accountability   

 6. Accessing further information and key documents  

Page 11



1. Director’s Summary of Performance  

 

In Powys County Council we are committed to working with our health board colleagues and third 

sector to deliver better outcomes for Powys residents.  We are led in this by the Joint Health and 

care strategy working through the Regional Partnership Board (RPB)  and through driving the changes 
associated with the North Powys Wellbeing programme on which I lead.  

As the Director of Social Services in Powys I recognise the improvement journey that both Adults and 

Children Services are on.  Whilst also recognising that some people may have concerns about the 

pace of our improvement.  I want to highlight the commitment to get this right and not just for 

the ‘here and now’, but to develop a sustainable, quality social services offer which is fit for purpose 

and the future.   I believe this report will highlight the enormity of what has been delivered to date 
and transparency on what we have yet to deliver.  

After the inspection in July 2017 (Children’s Services) & January 2018 (Adult Social Care), I came in to 

post on the 23rd April with over 25 years of experience of working in and leading Social Care.  My 

personal commitment is not to just oversee the immediate improvements of our service but a long-

term investment in working in Powys, to see these improvements through, develop a culture of 

continuous improvement and deliver the best possible outcomes for Powys Residents working with 
our partners in the Health Board and voluntary sector.  

We have a permanent Chief Executive who has now been in post since February 2019 and we have 

secured a permanent leadership team including the Senior Management tier who are  passionate 

& committed to driving new ways of working and improved outcomes for our residents whilst taking 
our workforce with us.  

The journey over the last 2 years has been challenging and we are appreciative of all the support and 

constructive challenge we have had from both Cabinet, Scrutiny committee & Care Inspectorate 

Page 12



Wales.  In addition, we have had the support and challenge of Jack Straw (independent Chair) and 

Phil Hodgson (Board member), and the broader improvement and assurance board who have been 

instrumental in our journey of improvement.  For which I am immensely grateful.  

I also want to mention the support of colleagues both in our Corporate support services and in our 
front-line teams for enabling the improvements to date.  

In March 2020, Social Services invoked its business continuity plan in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic. I am proud that we have been able to continue to deliver business critical services across 

Powys during this difficult time, which is testament to the hard work and commitment of our staff.  

Alison Bulman  

Director of Social Services  

2. Introduction  

 

 

 This is the Director of Social Services’ report for 2019/20 for Powys County Council.  It provides an 

overview of how well the services achieved the intended outcomes as set out in 2018/19 report, as 
well as identifying new developments and aspirations for 2020/21 and beyond.  

Powys County Council’s Social Services Department includes Children’s Services and Adults’ Services, 

both supported by a Commissioning team. The Adults’ Social Care service adopted new principles of 
working, as set out in its improvement plan.  These included:  

How We Will Work Together  

Page 13



We believe that everyone should be seen as unique individuals who have strengths, hopes and 

aspirations as well as needs or problems. We want to support people to live the best life they can, 

helping them to find solutions that fit. We will focus on what matters to the individual.  

 

 

1 - Children's Services set out its principles within the Chi ldren’s Services Plan on a  Page: 

 

Page 14



 

3. How are people shaping our services? 

 

Communicating and engaging with the public is important to how we shape the services people 

need and collectively evaluate how well we perform in delivering care and support to those who 

need it. Engaging and consulting on service development and delivery is crucial to delivering what 
the people of Powys require.   

We are eager to hear about the services we already deliver and how we can support adults and 

children better. This is important for all our services and those who access them. In some areas we 

have done well to engage adults, but we need to improve how children are enabled to voice their 
opinions on the decisions that affect them.   

Both service users and carers have been fully involved in the Carers ’ Steering Group, the Start 

Well, Live Well and Age Well Partnerships and other service user forums.  Carers including young 

carers and citizens’ representatives are supported through commissioned Credu and PAVO services 

Page 15



to enable their involvement and informed engagement at these groups, as well  as at the Regional 
Partnership Board.  

The Carers Steering Group commissioned Credu to provide two additional Carers Support Projects 

using ICF Funding.  The projects are for two years and will end in March 2021.    

  

The Care Leavers Forum formed a young people’s panel for recruitment in Children’s 
Services and a Care Leaver Participation Apprentice role was established in the new structure.     

  

• Raising Awareness Project  

The project includes the following activities:  To raise awareness among hard to reach communities, 

health settings and intergenerational work. Identify and recognise hidden isolated Carers; target 

communities with roadshows providing information, advice and assistance.  Explore opportunities 

for young and adult carers to share experiences, use of technology, mobile apps, and 
intergenerational skill-building events.    

• Co-Production of Respite Project/Short Breaks for Children and Young People  

The project provides the creation of a new role to plan and arrange bespoke and innovative respite 

opportunities to enable Carers to have breaks when they need them, where services are 

not currently provided or meeting need.  The project includes the following activities - Explore 

possibility of sharing of Carers’ time by supporting Carers to provide some formal paid caring, 

looking at innovative and new respite opportunities, favour exchange, quick response respite while 

waiting for Assessments, opportunities for young people to attend residential courses to give 
families a break.      

In response to requests for a wider choice of short breaks options for children and young people we 
have: 

• Provided short breaks for 27 children and young people including 19 family short  breaks;  

• Increased Direct Payments to 62 families in receipt; 

• Recruited additional personal assistants; 

• Provided 606 overnight breaks for 18 chilren and young people at Golwg Y Bannau and 

Golwg Y Gamlas;  

• Supported families through Integrated Disability Service Support Worker sessions. 

As the project is about listening to ‘What Matters’ to Carers the project was able to 

respond immediately as a result of the COVID 19 pandemic. Credu were able to help some families 
cope better with being isolated, creating respite in Carers own homes and gardens.   

Feedback from the Public  

 To help shape our service, we collect Compliments, Comments and Complaints and we discuss this 

feedback on a regular basis. We categorise them into Stage 1 and Stage 2 Complaints. Stage 1 

complaints are dealt with by the team or senior manager of the department. If we are unable to 

resolve a complaint at Stage 1, then it escalates to Stage 2 where the investigation is undertaken by 

Page 16



an external independent investigator. If the matter is still unresolved, the complaint escalates to the 

Ombudsman. In 2019/20,there has been a 33% decrease in the total number of complaints made 

compared to the previous year across both service areas. We are now resolving more cases at the 

point of enquiry, as opposed to progressing on to the complaint stage, this demonstrates our 

learning culture and putting things right at the earliest opportunity for the 

public. The Compliments for this year (144) remained about the same as last year (140). To see the 
full report, go to https://en.powys.gov.uk/socialservicescomplaints.  

 

 

2 - * The number of the complaints can be double/triple counted as they are included in each stage of the complaints 
process. However, not a ll complaints at the Ombudsman or at Stage 2 wi ll have been in Stage 1 in this year.  

** Ombudsman Complaints include those that were accepted by the Ombudsman in the year being reported, not those 

which may s till be ongoing from the previous year.  

What are our priorities for next year and why?   

For Adult Services, our aims are set out in our Integrated Business Plan 2020-2023. In Adult services, 

we will:  

• Promote independence wherever possible by identifying what people can do for themselves, 
alongside community based support to achieve what matters to them.   

• Support adults who require care and support through timely and strengths 

based assessments and care and support planning, and working to ensure that the right level 

of care and support is available to adults who require this support.   

• Provide and commission a flexible and affordable mix of high-quality support services for 

adults who require care and support and their carers to meet the diverse range of their 
individual needs and circumstances.  With a focus on outcomes.  

Page 17



• To increase the availability of volunteers to work in health and social care during the 

pandemic (and beyond), and to work with care and support providers to increase use of 

volunteers to increase service capacity.  

  

For Children’s Services our aims are set out in our Integrated Business Plan 2020-2023. We have 

committed to ‘Work with Children, Young People and their Families rather than do to, to co-produce 
plans to bring about the changes children need as quickly as possible.   

In 2020-21 we will:  

• Embed the Mind of My Own app and promote its widespread use among children and young 

people.   

• Care experienced young people attend and actively contribute to the Corporate Parenting 
group  

• Children who are looked after and Care Leavers fora meet regularly   

• Children who are looked after and Care Leavers fora organise at least one participation 
event  

• Children who are looked after and Care Leavers participate routinely and meaningfully in 
recruitment at all levels in CS  

• Organise a Member Development session which enables the Young People’s Forum to 

engage with Elected Members  

• As part of our Pathway Planning Children’s Services will ensure that 18 year-old care leavers 
are supported to be registered to vote  

Page 18



4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Powys Residents  

 

(a) Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people wish 

to achieve  

  

Understanding “what matters” in our conversations with people is paramount to successfully placing 

the individual at the centre of what we do. "What matters” is the golden thread that runs 

throughout our services and is an important guiding principle of the Social Services and Wellbeing 

(Wales) Act 2014.  

What did we plan to do last year?  

In last year’s Annual Report, we set out several priority actions to enhance how we work with people 
to help them achieve their outcomes, namely that we would:  

  

We Said - We Did! 

Streamline information so that it is in one place to ensure that the Information, Advice and 

Assistance services are better co-ordinated across our third sector organisations.  To develop our 
digital offer including virtual assessments and enquiries. (A-1)    

• A-1 A restructure that co-located a Social Worker and Community Connector with the ASSIST 

team and other front-door restructures have improved call wait times from 7 minutes to 
under 1 minute.   

• A-1 Our website now has an increased focus on getting help at home with daily living, 

including a service called Ask Sara, an online, self-assessment tool is available on both the 

Page 19



internal and external website. The website also has short video animations that illustrate 
how technology can help people to live at home for longer.    

• A-1 Our dedicated front door (ASSIST) website now offers a multi-agency, bi-lingual enquiry 

form, as well as a direct referral pathway for carers. People can now contact us via 
webchat.   

• Expanded our home-based support services to East Radnorshire, Llanidloes and Llandrindod 

Wells. These early intervention and prevention pilots were evaluated at the end of the 

2019. Feedback from service users and carers does show that most feel able to stay at home 

and where home support has been a contributing factor to this. Further expansion will be 
considered.   

Work with professionals to develop their understanding and respect for the importance of IAA in 

enabling the local population to make informed decisions and take personal responsibility for their 
health and wellbeing. (A-2)  

• A-2 Training and support enhanced the quality of the ‘what matters’ conversation that staff 

had with individuals to ensure that they got the right level of support as soon as 

possible. ASSIST staff and Community Connectors are trained to prescribe low level 

technology to enable independence or enhance care to further resolve enquiries as early as 
possible and where possible avoid hand offs.  

• Adult Services have worked closely with the newly appointed Joint Health and Social Care 

Workforce Planning Manager to inform a workforce strategy looking from a wider lens to 

include health, social care, volunteers and the independent sectors. The work which has 

been undertaken will also inform a national workforce strategy for Wales which is 
underpinned by the principles of A Healthier Wales.   

• In partnership with the Powys Teaching Health Board and PAVO, our Community Connector 

service comprises 13 Community Connectors and a Senior Officer. The number of referrals 

into the service rose from 2,189 last year to 2,994 in 2019/20, an increase of 37% over last 

year. Over 90% of the clients supported to access third sector services said that the 

Community Connectors helped deliver 'what matters' to them, showing the immense value 
of third sector support.  

• The Community Connectors have seen a huge increase of referral to support clients during 

the Covid-19 pandemic. They supported 650 people shielding and many others to access 

help in their local communities for prescription collections, shopping, loneliness, etc.  The 

Connectors have supported 112 local Covid-19 Community Support groups to establish, 
develop and deliver support to their local community.    

Promote further engagement in the Children’s Commissioners Ambassador Programme throughout 

Powys Schools. (A-3)  

• We have continued to promote the 4C’s Young Commissioner Programme. The 4Cs manages 

the All Wales Framework for the Provision of Foster Care Services & the All Wales 
Framework for the Provision of Residential Care Services to Children and Young People.   

• Young Commissioners have played an integral part in a number of 4Cs projects since 2017. 

Their participation ensures the voice of young people is at the heart of their work to support 

Page 20

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/6948/Contact-Assist-Online?pageSessionId=879a4ab7-5fb2-47e4-a306-9238aa6b4185&fsn=f39e99b5-47c9-4c8b-a9eb-4124bac56e99
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/6948/Contact-Assist-Online?pageSessionId=879a4ab7-5fb2-47e4-a306-9238aa6b4185&fsn=f39e99b5-47c9-4c8b-a9eb-4124bac56e99


commissioning, good quality care and improved outcomes for all of the children and young 
people looked after   

Continue to encourage young people or adults and partner agencies to partake in the 

interview process for positions in Social Services. A-5  

• Care Leaver Panels are a routine aspect of recruitment in Children ’s Services  

• Health partners are invited to be part of interview panels within Adult Services.   

• Adult Social Services took an active part in the countywide Careers Festival for secondary 

school pupils which was held at the Royal Welsh Showground in March 2020. We also 
continue to promote our apprenticeship programme.  

Work with partner agencies, particularly the health board, to adopt the Children Looked After Pledge. 

(A-6)  

• The Children and Young People’s Pledge, designed by Young People, has been adopted by 
Powys County Council and Powys Teaching Health Board  

 

Stabilise the work force and drive down the reliance on agency staff. (A-7)  

• The Children’s Services restructure was completed and has significantly improved the 

stability of the workforce. All Senior Manager, Team Manager and Team Leader posts were 

filled permanently. The number of agency social workers was reduced to 29 as of April 
2020.   

Drive up and maintain the performance across Children ’s Services. (A-8)  

Page 21



• Performance against key performance indicators has improved significantly and been 
sustained.   

• The percentage of children looked after who have had three or more placements during the 

year has been sustained well below the Welsh National Average of 10%.   At the start of the 

year Children’s Services performance in this indicator was 6% and it was reduced further to 
4% in March 2020.  

• The percentage of statutory visits for children looked after carried out on time is recorded in 

June 2019 at 84%, performance dramatically increased from August 2019 onwards and was 

sustained at 92% or over every month onwards.   In December 2019 the service reported that 
98% of visits were undertaken within timescales.  

• The percentage of child protection statutory visits carried out on time has also remained 

consistently over 90% since August 2019.    

• The percentage of operational staff who received case supervision on a monthly basis has 
improved greatly and from January 2020 onwards achieved target over 90% or over.   

• The number of children on the child protection register reduced from 123 in April 2019 to 90 
in March 2020.  

• The percentage of contacts to the Front Door service not requiring statutory services but 

was managed and supported through information, advice and early Help was consistently 

between 85 and 89% from December 2019 onwards.  

  

What are our priorities for next year and why?  

• A1 Goal: Provide care and support for carers which will  enable them to be supported to 
continue their caring role.    

• A2 Goal: Further develop our strengths-based approach through promoting individual’s own 

assets and community network support when determining how eligible needs can be best 

met.  

• A3 Goal: Strengthen the Quality Assurance Framework and workforce development 

arrangements to ensure that assessments include the voices of children, young people and 
their families and plans are co-produced.    

• A4 Goal: Develop the Early Help Strategy to promote Early Help as the multi-agency 

approach in Powys   

• A5 Goal: Launch the rebranded Children’s Services Front Door and Early Help Service  

• A6 Goal: Review with partners the planned approach to multi -agency Early Help Hubs in the 
light of the Covid-19 pandemic.   

  

(b) Working with people and partners to protect and promote people ’s physical and mental health 
and emotional well-being  

What did we plan to do last year?  

Page 22



In the 2019/20 Directorate Plan we said that we would:  

 

We Said - We Did! 

Implement the new Health and Wellbeing phone app to supply mobile access to Dewis, Info Engine 
and NHS111 all in one place.  

• The phone app is completed and being used. We will evaluate the effectiveness during the 

COVID 19 pandemic to ensure it was useful for people.  

Support individuals to live independently, within communities of choice and where required deliver 
care closer to home, by continuing to work with partners to enable integrated or co-located working.  

• For a variety of reasons, the provision of domiciliary care in Powys was challenging during 

the year.  To address this, significant work was undertaken to reduce demand for domiciliary 

care, to provide support from other sources and to meet demand differently, as well as to 

increase capacity. The number of individuals awaiting care with no current provision 

reduced to 35 (403 hours per week) from a peak of 40 individuals in September 2019. 

There was also a reduction in the number of people receiving domiciliary care and in the 

number of hours of domiciliary care provided.  However, the average time for providers to 

provide care increased to 33 days, reflecting the challenges in obtaining care in rural 
settings.    

• Other work includes significant promotion of direct payments, TEC (Technology Enabled 

Care) and occupational therapy interventions such as provision of aids and adaptations, as 
well as specific projects:  

• Moving with Dignity (Singled Handed Care) – Following a successful pilot, the Council has 

invested in two occupational therapists and equipment to enable reduction in the need for 

two care workers to visit some service users.  

• Community Connectors - In collaboration with the Powys Teaching Health Board, we have 

commissioned a further 4 (total 13) Community Connectors who work across the county to 
support individuals’ to engage with community groups and societies.  

• AskSara - In February of 2020, the Council launched its “AskSara” service, an online self-help 

guide to help people find equipment or services.  

• Home Based Support Pilots – The Council has invested in pilots across Radnorshire and the 

south of Montgomeryshire which provide 24/7 proactive floating support and rapid 
response service for people who use their Technology Enabled Care alarms.   

• Reviews – We are working to ensure that reviews of care packages are undertaken in a 

prompt and regular manner, alongside providers, and are effective in releasing domiciliary 
care capacity where appropriate.  

  

What are our priorities for next year and why?   

In 2020/21, we intend to address the following priorities around protecting and promoting the 
physical and mental health and emotional well-being of our residents.  

Page 23



• (B1 Goal) Improve our system of tracking what services people are needing in Powys to 
support future commissioning decisions.  

• (B2 Goal) Enable more people to remain in their own homes and reducing admissions into 

residential care, aided by effective partnership working in community mental health teams, 

and working alongside health partners to ensure that those with a primary health need have 
needs met through timely continuing healthcare funded support   

• (B3 Goal) To develop regular conference calls with providers and to communicate effectively 

with providers via the conference call and by writing to them regularly with updates on 
national and local developments.  

• (B4 Goal) Improve and revamp the Adult Social Care website to ensure that people can 

easily find what they want and designed to match the Social Services and Well 

Being Act. Including making sure that we promote greater awareness of  AskSara.  

• B5 Goal - Work with our partners to review the Start Well Board priorities to 

refocus how the partnership works together to support children’s emotional wellbeing and 
mental health at the earliest opportunity.   

• B6 Goal - Appoint an inhouse Psychologist in partnership with PTHB  

• B7 Goal - Establish a trauma informed approach across Children’s Services.  

• B8 Goal: Increase the number of care leavers that report good wellbeing.  

• B9 Goal: Further develop the range of short breaks provision available.  

• B10 Goal: To improve our partnership working with the Powys Teaching Health Board ’s Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Service.  

  

(c) Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm  

  

 What did we plan to do last year?  

 During 2019/20 we said we would:  

• C-1 To improve and maintain our practice with regards to safeguarding to ensure, as far as 

possible, that Adults at risk of abuse or neglect, who have care and support needs and 
unable to protect themselves of all ages are safe in Powys.   

• C-2 To embed strengths-based practice to support people to make informed decisions about 
living in, and engaging with, their own communities.   

• C-3 To support Powys residents (adults and children) who receive services elsewhere to 

return home where possible and to receive support in Powys.  

• C-4 To support our staff to achieve high operational staff receiving case 
supervisions monthly will be over 85%.   

• C-5 Develop an Early Help Hub as part of the Children’s Services restructure to increase the 
level of support which can be provided through early intervention.   

Page 24



• C-6 To undertake a detailed review all Children placed on the Child Protection Register. The 
statutory timescales within Children's Services will be 95%.  

• C-7 Children Looked After (CLA) who have three or more placements in 12 months will 

continue to be below or in line with the Welsh National average at 10%.  

• C-8 The percentage of placements accommodated with in-house foster carers will be 70%.  

• C-9 The percentage of assessments completed with an outcome of no further action will be 
40% or less.  

  

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?   

• C-1 Adult Safeguarding have completed over 95% of Safeguarding enquiries within statutory 
timescales.    

• C-2 Adults: Strengths Based Working - The department continues to embed a strengths-

based approach in all that it does. We have undertaken further redesign of our integrated 

assessment and care and support plan templates to ensure that we capture  the strengths 

based conversations that we are having with our residents. and aims to empower people 
and support them to re-engage with their communities.   

Children’s Services continued to deliver the Signs of Safety implementation plan with:   

1. 155 practitioners and managers attending the 2-day and 5-day Signs of Safety training,   

2. Practice leads identified in all teams,   

3. Training sessions on a range of subjects including  Signs of Safety Multi Agency Partner 

Workshop Events, Family Network Meetings, Genograms and Reflective Supervision.   

4. Implementation of our Closer to Home Strategy has meant 34XX children moved closer to 
home from out of County placements during 2019/20.   

• The Intervention and Prevention Service was established as part of the Children’s 

Services restructure. Practitioners work directly with children, young people and their 

families and carers to stabilise arrangements which may be at risk of breaking down and 

prevent escalation.   The number of children becoming looked after during 2019-20 

was 61.  In comparison the number of children becoming looked after during 2018-

19 was 82.   Therefore 21 fewer children have become looked after this financial year in 
comparison to the same time period last year.   

  

1. C4 - Following the Children’s Services restructure monthly supervision has been 

over 90% for every month since January 2020. Adults supervisions averaged 84.7% for the 11 

months up to March 2020 when due to Business Continuity supervisions reduced to 57% for 

that month. Social Services Leadership Team are committed to ensuring all operational staff receive 

dedicated, formal 1:1 supervision every month, in addition to any informal, group and peer 

supervision that takes place.  

Page 25



2. C-5 Multi-agency Early Help Panels have been established. The Early Help Service worked 

with 837 children during the year. Of these only 64 children went on to receive statutory 

intervention.   

3. C-6 We reduced the length of time children remain subject to child protection plans. We improved 

the process for reviewing the cases of children whose names have been on the child protection 
register for more than 12 months or who are re-registered within a 12-month period.   

 

 

The number of children re-registered within a 12-month period was 7.  Children’s Services continued 

to improve compliance with statutory timescales, completing 90% of visits to children with a child 

protection plan within statutory timescales for the last 3 Months.  

 

4. C-7 Children’s Services has worked hard to improve the stability of placements for Children in our 

care. We introduced placement support workers as part of the new Intervention and Prevention 

Service to support foster placements and prevent placement breakdown. The figure for the number 

of children with more than three moves in 12 months has remained consistently low at 4% 

compared to the Wales average of 10%.   

5. C-8 We consulted with foster carers and reviewed the support offer, whilst working with national 

colleagues on the harmonisation of fees for foster carers across Wales.  We have invested in the 

Fostering Service, which is now made up of two teams covering the North and South of 

the County respectively. This more stable base has enabled the Teams to focus on improving the 

support provided and development of our carers as well  as on recruiting new carers. We ran 

recruitment campaigns throughout the 

year which produced 132 enquiries, 18 assessments beginning and 14 foster families being approved 

Page 26



at panel. 40% of children in our care are placed with in-house foster carers and we continue to work 
hard to recruit more foster carers.   

 

6. C9 The Assessment Teams completed 692 assessments in the year. Of these, 11% 

were stepped down to early help. This figure has increased through the year, as our new 

structure and early help approach has been embedded.  41% progressed to Care and Support 
and 48% were closed.   

•  The statutory obligation to complete Deprivation of Liberty assessments (DoLs) within 21 

days continues to be a challenge. We have worked together with regional partners 

to outline guidance to complement the guidance from the Department of Health. Staff 

responsible for DoLs continue to keep themselves updated with case law and developments 

during the Covid period. Preparations are ongoing for the transition to the 

new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) which comes into force sometime in 2021. An audit 

of the Council’s DoLs service was undertaken in December 2019. This audit resulted in a 

number of actions which will be coordinated by our Senior Manager for Contact and Adult 
Safeguarding.  

•  We have created a Regional Threshold guidance and delivered online training to 

support staff with a clear process to inform safeguarding referrals. The Wales Safeguarding 

Procedures were launched in November of 2019, which is an essential part of safeguarding 

children and promoting their welfare. Powys has begun training staff on applying the new 

procedures in practise.  

What are our priorities for next year and why?  

 During 2020/21 we will be focussed on delivering a range of outcomes, including:  

Page 27



• C1 GOAL: The Regional Safeguarding Board will publish the regional safeguarding response 

to Safeguarding which is a single document outlining the Safeguarding response to children 

and adults safeguarding. The purpose of this document is to provide a designated reference 

point for the specific processes to be followed during the COVID-19 pandemic, and 

to show the significant work undertaken by all our Board and partners in the development of 

these policies. The Senior manager has engaged with the board to produce this document 
and provide clarity during this time.   

• C2 Goal: To develop a joint care home escalation matrix with the Powys Teaching Health 

Board to enable full awareness by the Care Home Steering Group (Section 33) of contract 

monitoring and concerns.  

• C3 Goal: To convene a regular interagency, multidisciplinary team meeting to consider 
the needs and sustainability of care homes in Powys.   

• C4: Work closely with partner agencies to improve our response to child exploitation and 
lead on the review of the regional arrangements for multi -agency working.   

• C5: Complete phase two of the Children’s Services restructure to strengthen the 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service.   

• C6: Develop the Powys Child Exploitation Strategy and Implementation Plan  

• C7: Establish our Specialist Child Exploitation Intervention team.  

• C8: Undertake a review of EDT and implement an out of hours response to child protection 

and adult safeguarding and mental health which meets demand.  

(d) Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  

  

What did we plan to do last year?  

During 2019/20 we said we would:  

• D-1 Review our access arrangements, promoting self-service and channel shift wherever 

appropriate. Ensuring we have the right model to meet the demands on the service. 
Promoting a culture of getting it right the first time for people who contact us.   

• D-2 Review the end to end customer journey/experience and ensure that each step adds 

value and that our systems are lean and agile.  

• D-3 Continue to promote a culture which routinely meets the expectations of the Social 

Services and Well-being Act and other legislation which encourages co- production and 
reduced dependence   

• D-4 Regional Rural Centre in Newtown – in partnership with health and social care 

professionals, a proof of concept work has been completed including identification of a 

preferred site for a multi-agency campus in Newtown.  Work has commenced on the design 

of the new model of care which includes mapping of existing services and local population 

needs.   

• D-5 The proof of concept work has been completed. This includes the identification of a 

preferred site for a multi-agency campus in Newtown and the testing of how the 

Page 28



vision/concept could fit on the preferred site through different layout options. This external 

report and its recommendations were approved by Council Cabinet on 19th February 2019. 

Further work is required to develop the multi-agency wellbeing campus model, and this will 
be undertaken during spring/summer of 2019.   

• D-6 Continue to work with Powys County Council  Housing Department and Associations on 
planning opportunities for Residential Units and training flats for Care Leavers.    

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  

  

• D-1  Significant work has been undertaken during the year to review and create a new single 

point of contact which provides high quality information, advice and assistance.  ASSIST is 

now functioning more efficiently and is providing excellent results including prescribing low-

level Technology Enabled Care (TEC) equipment when needed.  The percentage of 

individuals who have contacted the service for information and advice, but who have not 

returned to the service in the following six months is 77% (as of April 2020).   The key role of 

the contact officers within the ASSIST team is to get to the heart of “what matters” to the 

person or their carer and to identify the outcome they are looking to achieve.  The team 

work to a prioritisation framework to assess referrals and have a clear process for 

prevention and co-production with third sector services.  There are clear pathways for any 

concerns which are raised about safeguarding.  A new online enquiry form 

and carers assessment form have been introduced.  In the last Quarter of 2019/2020, 86% of 

all approaches to Children's Services were supported and managed through the Front Door 

with information, advice or via the Early Help Team, rather than a referral to statutory 

services. This percentage continues to be consistent each month and highlights how 

Children’s Services is embedding the ethos of 'working with' Children, Young People 

and their Families rather than 'doing to' to enable children and young people to access the 

right support at the right time.  The commissioned services, provided by 3rd sector 

organisations, have an important role to play with providing information, advice and 

assistance. Organisations, such as Credu, provide thousands of people with information on a 

regular basis. It is estimated that there are 1,000 young people and approximately 16,000 

adults who are looking after a family member or friend who are ill or disabled.  The number 

of people now registered with Credu as informal carers and who received information 

regularly is 3,413 as of 31 March 2020, up from 3,172 people at the same time last year.   

• D-2   Work continues with the ‘end to end’ customer journey/experience and meetings 

with operational managers and Business Intelligence will continue as things return to 
normal.  

• D-3  Since Sept 2019, our department has held quarterly Strengths Based Outcome 

Focussed trainings hosted by Social Care Wales. We have also added our own monthly 

Mentor Groups to support staff in embedding the practise. Powys has made the Strengths 

Based Outcome Focussed training mandatory for all frontline 

staff and Senior Managers. Monthly reflective practise meetings and a library of webinars, 

case studies and other resources further support Strengths Based Outcome Focussed 

practise. We are monitoring staff practise via audits to ensure staff are embedding their 
learning.   

Page 29



• D-3 In Children’s Services, there have been a range of 14 different practice development 
sessions to promote and embed the Signs of Safety model of social work.  

• D-4 Regional Rural Centre in Newtown as a part of the North Powys Programme – After 

extensive engagement with communities, staff and stakeholders, a new model of care has 

been developed taking into account population needs, existing service provision and gaps, 

quality of the estate and the broader challenges and opportunities at a local and national 

level. The new model of care was approved by the Health Board and is awaiting review by 

Powys County Council after being on hold due to COVID-19. It is anticipated that the model 

of care will need to be reviewed in light of COVID-19 to ensure it is still the best 

model moving forward.     

• D-5 Further work has been done to develop a programme business case, but engagement 

has been limited due to COVID-19. Further work is required to be able to ensure full 

stakeholder support for the scheme before it can be considered for approval by Cabinet 

and the Health Board.  

• D-6 Children’s Services and Powys County Council Housing Department continue to work 

together to meet the accommodation needs of Children who are Looked After and our Care 

Leavers.   During 2019/20, two Council properties (one in North Powys and one in South 

Powys) have been developed into our Springboard houses in Newtown and Brecon. These 

are shared houses for young people aged 16 to 25 who are leaving care and are ready for 

greater independence.  A three-bedroom property in South Powys was also tenanted to 

Children’s Services for use as a 2 bed children’s residential home.  The works commenced in 

2019/20 and have been delayed due to the Covid-19 response.  A further house in Mid 

Powys was tenanted to Children’s Services at the end of 2019/20, for use as emergency 

accommodation due to Covid-19.   Children’s Services worked with Newydd Housing 

Association to secure two one-bedroom flats in North Powys.  In January a training flat in 

Newtown opened its doors to young people.  The aim of the flat is to give Young People 

leaving care a chance to spend short periods of time living there, learning skills and 

experiencing what it’s like to live alone. It gives young people the opportunity to be fully 

involved with their own programme for independence.  This project was set up in 

partnership with Care Leavers.  The other flat has provided floating support accommodation 

for a Care Leaver.   

  

Technology Enabled Care (TEC) has continued to develop with new services being trialled. The 

number of unique individuals supported, and technology enabled care prescriptions have continued 

to grow with 708 new prescriptions in 2019/20. TEC is helping unpaid carers to look after their loved 

ones with dementia in their homes for longer, some avoiding care home admission altogether or 

delaying the need for this. Using an average of £1,350 per person in annual savings, the projected 

costs which have been avoided as a result of the use of technology enabled care was £453,938 

for the 2019/20 financial year.  

Projected Cost Avoidance to Powys Social Care 2019/20   Number of clients - 708 (1) Estimated 
Annual Saving per Client - £1,350 (2,3) Estimated saving 2019/20 - £453,938  (4) 

(1) Actual number of unique clients supported with Technology Enabled Care in Powys  

Page 30



2) Estimated annual net savings per client based on research but at 30% only and assumes 70% of 
clients retain their TEC for 12 months  

3) Uplift applied for 2019/20 of 2%   

(4) Savings per client reduce each month to reflect diminishing time remaining in the financial year  

 

3 - A series of animations were created to promote the equipment which is available to support people in Powys  

 

 

Page 31

https://youtu.be/PjnRRG3JXJA


 

 

 

4 - Technology Enabled Care Prescriptions by month  

Especially popular is the Canary Home Monitoring System which allow non-invasive monitoring of 

vulnerable person to know their movements, see video 

at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KJ350uHTC2k.   “I have gotten fantastic feedback from 

clients/family using the equipment. The potential cost savings from families being able to maintain 

their loved one at home without the need for a care package is huge.” - Health Board Occupational 

Therapist talking about the Canary Home Monitoring System  “My gran remained at home without a 

care package right up until she was hospitalised over a 5-month period, and, unfortunately then 

required 24-hour care in a nursing home. As a family we strongly feel that the Canary was the main 

reason we kept her at home for so long.” – Granddaughter   Overall, the number of unique 

individuals supported has continued to grow in line with Vision 2025 targets with a total of 708 
individuals being supported using TEC items since April 2019.  

 What We Will Do Next Year:   

  

Page 32

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KJ350uHTC2k


D-1 Goal: To enable more adults with a disability to gain training and paid employment as our 

current commissioned service expires in October of 2020, we will be retendering by 

reviewing current employment needs and using a locality approach.   

D-2 Goal: To review daytime activities for adults and to support people to achieve what matters to 
them.  

D-3 Goal: To increase uptake of technology amongst the people that we support 
to increase social connection and reduce loneliness and isolation.  

D-4 Open a Spring-Board house in mid Powys  

D-5 Complete an options appraisal of how a full range of supported accommodation for Care Leavers 

and Young People aged 16 to 17 who are homeless, can be best delivered.  

D-6 Increase the number of young people in care who achieve their educational goals.  

D-7 Increase the number of care leavers who are living in permanent accommodation at the age of 
25.  

D-8 Increase the number of care leavers who are in full time employment, education, or training.  

(e) Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal 
relationships.  

  

What did we plan to do last year?  

During 2019/20 we said we would:  

• E-1 Increase awareness and challenge attitudes of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence across Mid and West Wales  

• E-2 Increase awareness in children and young people of the importance of safe,  equal and 

healthy relationships and that abusive behaviour is always wrong   

• E-4 Make early intervention and prevention a priority   

• E-5 Relevant professionals are trained to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses 
to victims and survivors   

• E-6 Provide victims with equal access to appropriately resourced, high quality, needs led, 
strength based, gender responsive services throughout the region.  

• E-7 Ensure all organisations contracted to provide care services on behalf of Powys Council 

have a workplace domestic abuse policy and provide the same level of training as required 
of Council staff under the National Training Framework.  

  

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  

E-1   Powys Commissions two main providers across Powys who:  

Page 33



• Work in communities and public services to raise awareness of domestic abuse, the signs of 

an abuse relationship and its impacts, and promote services available to support victims i.e. 

national helpline  

• Provide training to relevant staff, practitioners and volunteers (from a range of statutory and 

third sector organisations) to raise awareness of domestic abuse as an issue, 

communicate the responsibilities under ‘Ask and Act’ and provide information on 

support/advice and referral routes for those experiencing domestic abuse.    

• Support the development and promotion of the ‘Ask me’ scheme and ‘safe disclosure points’ 
in communities  

• Develop skills to establish and maintain positive and healthy relationships  

• Work with the locality housing related support and other service providers to improve 
intelligence and early intervention.  

  

E-2.  Sessions have been provided across schools in Powys which:  

• Promote the importance of healthy relationships and raise the awareness of children, 

young people and adults about the issues of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence.   

• Are delivered by qualified and experienced teachers - sessions can be delivered in Welsh or 
English and all resources are bilingual.    

• Are cross curricular and are designed to promote peer discussion, using a range of 
techniques.    

• Use materials that are thought provoking but are not designed to be so emotive as to cause 

distress, including the concept of “The Safety Zone”.   

• Are designed to promote discussion not disclosure.    

• Conclude with information for young people on where they can access help and support 
both inside and outside the school.  

• A parent pack has been developed with activities for all ages, from under 4 to over 14.   The 
pack contains practical activities for children and young people  

  

E-3 The Regional Partnership are still working closely with partners around the academic review and 

profiling of perpetrators across Mid and West Wales.  

• As a result of the Regional MARAC review the Daily Discussion process has been reviewed 

and is now in practice. Evaluation is also underway with Data Cymru for the Daily Discussions 
Process.  

• The Capital Grant Award has supported implementation of Video Conference facilities across 

Powys, to support the Daily Discussions Process that was implemented in November 2019.    

• We are working on the regional Stalking Perpetrator Intervention Pilot with Professor Jane 
Monkton-Smith and the Forensic Psychology Service.    

Page 34



• The focus for the next year will be piloting a digital perpetrator intervention in Powys, 
supported by learning from the recent Powys Domestic Homicide Review.  

  

• E-4 The Children’s Services restructure included a big focus and investment in Early Help 

Services.     

• Our new Early Help Service started their work in April 2019. 927 children received direct 

work (not including group work) from the team during the year.   Of those 927 children only 

64 were referred back for statutory assessment. For 50 of these children the reason was that 

their families did not engage with Early Help. We are confident that the Early Help team are 

working effectively alongside children, young people and their families at an early stage, 
avoiding the need for the involvement of statutory services.   

• As part of the Early Help approach, we established early help panels to bring together multi 

agency partners to ensure that children, young people and their families can access the 

support they need at the earliest opportunity. Our partners Calan Domestic Violence 
Service and Montgomery Family Crisis Centre (MFCC) participate in those panels.   

• The newly established Intervention and Prevention Service worked with 322 Children, 
Young People and their families to support with a range of issues.   

Figures from June 2019 to March 2020:   CE Number of referrals - 33 Number of Children - 38 Number 

of Adults - 17  Crisis Work  

Number of referrals - 10 

Number of Children - 17 

Number of Adults - 18  CSE  

Number of referrals - 5 

Number of Children  - 5 

Number of Adults  - 2  Family Support  

Number of referrals - 24 

Number of Children  - 36 

Number of Adults  - 30  Parenting Support  

Number of referrals - 2 

Number of Children  - 4 

Number of Adults  - 4  Placement Support  

Number of referrals - 35 

Number of Children  - 43 

Number of Adults  - 26  Reunification  

Number of referrals - 9 

Page 35



Number of Children  - 10 

Number of Adults  - 9  Support to avoid accommodation  

Number of referrals - 104 

Number of Children  - 169 

Number of Adults  - 129  Grand total  

Number of referrals - 222 

Number of Children  - 322 

Number of Adults  - 235 

  

  

• Children and Young People supported by Intervention and Prevention Service to 
avoid accommodation in Local Authority Care = 166 (169 - 3 multiple referrals) 

• Average cost of a placement for a child in care 2019-20 = Around £50,000  

• Total cost avoided 2019-20 = £8,300,000 

  

  

• E-5 We appointed a trainer to undertake the VAWDASV training. 75% of the Social Services 
workforce completed their level 1 training.   

• E-6 Powys Commissions Domestic Abuse Support from two main providers, one North one 

South.  Providers provide services which include:  

- Access to safe and appropriate accommodation  

- Crisis Support 

 - Recovery Support  

- Preventative Services  

- Services specifically for children and young people effected by domestic Abuse   

- General awareness raising services    

• E-7 All Powys contracts have these requirements within the standard terms and 
conditions.   Compliance is monitored as part of our routine contract monitoring.  

What are our priorities for next year and why?   

(Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal 
relationships.)  

  

Page 36



• E1 The pandemic has meant that all day services have been closed.   It is likely that risk 

assessments will result in an inability to re-open day centres in the near future due to the 

requirement to physically distance, especially among vulnerable groups.   Therefore, the 

Council will need to work with day service users to ascertain the best alternative methods of 

achieving what matters to them.  This may mean support to access technology and use 

technology to maintain relationships in a different manner, or to access physically distanced 

befriending groups, or other types of support.   In addition, we will be working 

alongside service users to identify suitable volunteering, work experience and employment 

opportunities. The service will prioritise this work during the year.  

• E2 To develop supported living services which are outcome focussed and support individuals 
to maintain their own wellbeing within society.   

• Identify those in our teams who should complete the level two and three VAWDASV training 
and provide the relevant training opportunities.   

 

5 - Amy published her experiences of Shared Lives in Powys 

 (f) Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social life 
and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs  

  

What did we plan to do last year?  

  

 In 2019/20 we stated that we would:  

• F-1 In 2019/20, the council will work with partners and providers to support their 

sustainability and find innovative solutions to reduce the numbers of delayed transfers of 

care.  

• F-2 Continue to increase the capacity of carers and number of participants in the Shared 
Lives Service. (Asking Sandra and Hazel)  

• F-3 Work with the housing service and housing associations to develop better 

accommodation options for older people in Powys.  This will include the development of 
extra care schemes in Welshpool, Ystradgynlais and Brecon.  

Page 37



• F-4 Reduced numbers of persons (per 1000 population) aged 75 and over who experience a 

delay in return to their own home or social care setting following hospital treatment. (this 

was 1.5 in 2017/18).  

  

How far did we succeed and what difference did we make?  

 Effective partnership working is crucial to improving outcomes for residents in Powys. Our service 

delivery plan sets out what we want to do to enable the speedy transfer of people from ho spital to 
home through a re-abling and recovery-oriented approach. (From CIW Conf notes)   

In January 2018, the number of delayed hospital transfers due to social care reasons was 18. In 

January 2020, the number of delayed transfers due to social care reasons was 3. I’m proud of this 

improvement for Powys residents, because I know the work that we have undertaken across the 

system that has contributed to this improvement. The main changes I’d like to highlight are around 

pathways and processes and creating new teams.  

In terms of pathways and processes;  

• We have co-developed a clear set of patient pathways, with corresponding pathway 

response times. We now have clear processes in place that provides a clarity that 
we didn’t have before across social care and health.  

• We have held pathway familiarisation sessions with our colleagues in District General and 
Community Hospitals so that these pathways are embedded.  

• Senior Managers across Social Services and Health have instigated twice weekly patient flow 

meetings and a fortnightly delays forum. We’re now managing patient flow in a calmer 
environment which supports clearer and more focussed discussions.   

• We have created a patient flow tracker which is shared across the system. This gives the 

system real time intelligence on what patients are where, what discharge pathway they are 

on, and the work that we are undertaking across the system to support transfer to home.   

In terms of teams;  

• We have created a new hospital social work team that currently covers two acute settings, 

as well as five of our community hospitals. As soon as a patient is stable enough to start 

planning their transfer from hospital, our team works with them. Care and support plans, if 

required are signed off on a daily basis so that there is no additional delay in arranging for 

care and support. In January 2020, we received 73 referrals, of which 50 were appropriate. 

80% of cases were allocated within 24 hours, with the remaining people allocated to a 

worker within 4 days.   

• The reablement service is run jointly between the Council and the Health Board. Since our 

inspection, we have implemented alternative ways of working to expedite hospital transfers. 

In the South, we have utilised one worker to follow a Home-First Model and in the North, 

three workers have been seconded to the home first team, led by PTHB. This is helping us to 

support reductions of referrals to The reablement service is run jointly between the Council 

and the Health Board. Since our inspection, we have implemented alternative ways of 

working to expedite hospital transfers. In the South, we have utilised one worker to follow a 

Home-First Model and in the North, three workers have been seconded to the home first 

Page 38



team, led by PTHB. This is helping us to support reductions of referrals to reablement. Our 

performance data from January 2020 shows us that 83% of adults who completed a period of 

reablement had no package of care and support 6 months later.   

• Our performance data from January 2020 shows us that 83% of adults who completed a 
period of reablement had no package of care and support 6 months later.  

 

6 - In Children’s Services we continued to implement our Children who are Looked After Framework to ensure the best 
possible outcomes for children in our care.   

The step-down approach for Powys Children Looked After 2019/2020 

Powys continues to make full use of the 4C’s Framework and attends 4C’s Board, Partnership forums 

and engage in development workshops.  All placement searches are undertaken initially via the 4Cs 

Framework.  The Commissioning Team have undertaken 4C’s CSSR training to ensure we maximise 
the capability of the system including reporting and performance data.   

The commissioning team have revised and implemented contract monitoring arrangements for all 

commissioned placements.  An escalation of concerns process has also been developed and 

implemented.   A schedule of all monitoring visits is in place as are systems and processes to record 
all relevant records.  

The Closer to Home Project Group that is chaired by the Head of Service meets f ortnightly to review 

Children’s placements, their circumstances and plan for their move closer to home safely and with 

their needs and views as a priority.   

Evidence of how the Closer to Home Project is working can been seen in the step-down table.    

We appointed a Children’s Residential Home Development Manager to lead the work developing 

plans for children's homes within Powys. We are continuing with the work to recruit new foster 
families and supported lodgings hosts in Powys; this is a priority for the service.     

 Enquiries 2019/20 

Foster Carer  - 132 

Connected Persons  - 42 

Supported Lodgings - 14 

   

Applications  Foster Carer - 18 

Page 39



Connected Persons Assessment - 22 

Supported Lodgings - 8 

 Approvals  

 Foster Carers - 14 

Connected Persons - 9 

Supported Lodgings - 1  

Our Through Care Teams work with Young People so that they are fully supported as they transition 
into adulthood.   

The newly established Housing Gateway Panels commenced in January 2020.  This is a multi-agency 

panel which has been set up to ensure that Care Leavers are able to access accommodation without 
having to present as homeless (the previous process).  

The Housing options available to young people leaving care have increased, as have the 

opportunities for young people to prepare for their own homes. The training flat, Spring 

Board project and Floating Support tenancy are the first of these improvements.   

What are our priorities for next year and why?  

  

To support people in 2020/21 to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social life and live in 

suitable accommodation, we will:  

• F-1 Goal: Further embed discharge to recover and assess pathways in partnership with 

health and third sector to promote as far as possible the recovery and rehabilitation of 
patients following their transfer from hospital.  

• F-2 Goal: Conduct a review of our reablement service. Our joint partnership board has 

agreed to work together to commission a review of our reablement service to formalise 

the model we are working under; one that supports both the managing of demand from 
hospitals and in service users in our communities.  (from CIW brief)   

• F-4 Goal: To develop wellbeing calls to proactively contact vulnerable individuals in the 

community to support their independent living.  

• F-5 Goal: To continue to develop the extra care schemes across Powys.  

• F-6 Goal: To review the older persons’ care home market to consider appropriate provision 
and evaluate provision is appropriate to meet need.   

• F-7: We will continue the recruitment drive for foster carers and supported lodgings hosts   

• F-8: We will improve the support provided to our foster carers  

• F-9: We will increase the number of supported lodgings hosts  

• F-10: We will open the first of our new Powys Residential Children ’s Homes.  

• F-11: Undertake an analysis of range and cost of accommodation for care leavers age 18+  

Page 40



• F12: Following the review, we will commission or develop provision to improve the range of 

accommodation options for young people leaving care and homeless young people 

aged 16 to 17 years and deliver value for money.  

• F-13: Design the model of care and therapeutic model for a Powys Children ’s Therapeutic 
Residential Home  

5. How We Do What We Do?  

 

  

(a) Our Workforce and How We Support their Professional Roles  

  

Since the CSSIW inspection of Children’s Services in July 2017 a permanent Head of Service has been 

appointed who has established a clear strategic vision for improving the service. The Service is two 
years into a journey of improvement.    

The restructure of the Service (in 2019-20) from one based on generic teams where workers were 

required to undertake tasks from referral to adoption, to specialist teams. The restructure enables 

workers to have clarity of role and manageable workloads and makes Children ’s Services in Powys an 
attractive place to work. The specialist teams are now made up of the following:   

• Early Help and Assessment  

• Intervention and Prevention   

• Care and Support   

Page 41



• Corporate Parenting   

• Safeguarding and Quality Assurance   

Following the restructure, staff morale has improved and colleagues report feeling better equipped 
to undertake their roles.   

The practice framework Signs of Safety has been rolled out and embedde d across the 

service.  Training for all staff has been implemented and a Signs of Safety Implementation Group was 

established and meets monthly to progress the implementation plan. Team Managers and 

Practitioners report that using Signs of Safety has transformed the way they work with families and 

the focus is on developing family support networks and keeping children safely at home wherever 
possible.   

In Adult Services strengths-based working is ‘what we do’. It means that we take the time to 

understand what matters to those who approach us for support, to identify what they can do for 

themselves and what support they can draw upon from friends, family and their wider communities. 

We have made our Strengths-based outcome focus training a mandatory requirement for all staff in 
Adult operational teams.   

We maintain strong links with Social Care Wales (SCW) to utilise their on-line training videos and 

other resources. We continue to attend the all Wales mentoring Group facilitated by SCW which 

enables us to network with other organisations and share their experiences of embedding the 

approach into practise. We have also attended workshops on outcome focussed case recording 
facilitated by SCW and researchers from Swansea University.   

We have a pool of 36 Strengths-based outcome focussed mentors and have been running monthly 

support groups to increase their skills and confidence. Mentoring is undertaken formally through 

supervision, group reflective sessions and informally on day to day basis. We have also created an 
online library of guidance and good practice.  

Powys is fortunate to have dedicated and hard-working social care staff who routinely demonstrate 

commitment and care for the individuals they serve. Despite that, Powys faces a significant long-

term challenge because demographic change is leading to an increase in older people (75+) and a 
decline in the number of people of working age (see table below).    

  

Age Group                         2014            2019           2029       2039 Working Age (16-64)       77,200       

73,500        65,200     56,900   

75+                                  15,100       17,600         24,000    28,200 

 (Welsh Government Population Projections (2016)    

This is causing recruitment and retention problems for the council.   As part of a “One Council” 

approach, we acknowledge the need to have the right numbers of people in the right roles with the 
required capabilities to deliver improvement. To achieve that goal, we are investing in the following:  

• Workforce planning  

• Attracting and recruiting staff  

• Leadership and management development  

Page 42



• Performance management of people   

• Workforce development   

• Pay reward and recognition   

• Professional progression  

• Workforce health and wellbeing.  

The workforce in Powys are highly skilled and demonstrate an eagerness to improve services.   The 

Council was developing agile working systems and policies throughout 2019/20, but this changed 

rapidly towards the end of March 2020 when the Council invoked business continuity and 

social services staff were supported to work from home or to be based at home where possible.  The 

previous developments enabled this to be implemented effectively and efficiently and enabled swift 

transition to a new mode of working.  

What we Achieved  

  

To increase our staff engagement, we established an employee representative forum, which 

provides an opportunity for staff to be briefed on current issues within the Service and to have the 

opportunity to raise issues and ideas for discussion or escalation.  The group is working 

collaboratively to support the wider engagement and build a stronger culture  of continuous 

feedback and learning across Social Services.    

  

In November 2019 a staff survey was conducted. 1,421 employees (including 35 Commissioning 

staff, 70 Childrens and Families staff and 207 Adults staff)  responded to the survey, compared to 332 
in 2018.   

The survey found that:  

Proud to work for the council  Council average - 77% Commissioning - 77% Children and Families - 

74% Adults - 81%             Proud of the work I do                            Council average - 77% Commissioning 

- 71% Children and Families - 81% Adults - 84%       I feel confident making decisions without having 
to seek permission from my line manager  

Council average - 83% 

Commissioning - 83% 

Children and Families - 78% 

Adults - 84%   I will go that extra mile to get the job done   

Council average - 91% 

Commissioning - 89% 

Children and Families - 93% 

Adults - 95%   

Page 43



• Grow our own – Adults services have 5 and Children’s Services have 1 student on the Open 

University Degree in Social Work, all of whom are on Level 2 of their degree and have 

commenced their practice learning opportunity. There are also 4 members of staff  in Adult 
Services undertaking their practice assessor qualification.   

• Occupational Therapy – During 2019/20, waiting times for occupational therapy assessments 

in the south of the county remained a concern, however a combination of innovative 

working in the form of focussed whole team assessment days in specific locations with the 

greatest backlog of referrals, plus a return to full team capacity following one full term team 
member’s maternity leave, resulted in this reducing significantly during the winter months.   

Securing a Stable Workforce   

  

We attended the Compass Community Care events in both Manchester (May) and Birmingham 

(March). We also participated in the Careers Wales event at the Royal Welsh Showground at the 

beginning of March. Social Care participated in the We Care Wales recruitment campaign run by 
Social Care Wales which included adverts on national television.   

A focus for Children’s Services has been on stabilising the workforce and the recruitment of a 

Permanent Senior Leadership Team. This has been achieved alongside key roles  within the 

structure including Children’s Services Participation and Engagement Officer, Children’s Services 

Development Manager – Residential and Supported Accommodation, Safeguarding Manager, and 
Exploitation Manager.  

The number of qualified social work vacancies has reduced along with the reliance on agency staff.    

Several recruitment campaigns have been run during the year with the latest one at the beginning of 

2020 before the Covid-19 pandemic.  This included a social media campaign using new promotional 
videos with Children's Services staff talking about their experiences working in Powys.  

The Children's Services workforce development project developed a business case for the “Grow our 

Own” Social Workers which sets out how we plan to expand the opportunities for existing staff to 

train as qualified social workers.  

A Team Co-ordinator Pilot project was launched in January in the Care and Support South 

Team.  This model has been derived from the Hackney Model.  The Team Co-ordinator was allocated 

to work with 4 Social Workers, to support them with co-ordinating visits, arranging meetings, 

timely recordings and act as a contact for families.  The pilot ran until end of March and delivered 

the anticipated outcomes – releasing social workers to spend more time doing the job they love – 
spending time working directly with children, young people and their families.  

    

Children’s Services Induction Training was reviewed and revamped in February and sessions were 

held for all new members of staff around the County. The sessions were attended by 22 new starters 
and feedback was very positive.  

Operational Management Team meetings have been revamped and now have a focus on learning 
and development for Team Managers and Leaders.  

(b) Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for the Future  

Page 44



  

Many local authorities are experiencing budget challenges and Powys has received one of the worst 

settlements in Wales every year for the last ten years.  The large variation in our expenditures makes 

resource management especially challenging.  Decisions which affect the type and cost of services to 

be provided are often outside of the council's control and thus are uncontrolled and unpredictable 
(e.g. decisions taken by the court in children’s cases).  

Some individual services are very expensive, where placements for children or adults with especially 

complex needs can easily exceed £150,000 a year and some will cost substantially 

more.  Expenditure incurred in one year may lock the council into financial commitments for many 

years to come.  To balance the competing priorities of managing service demand, improving quality, 

meeting higher expectations and reducing expenditure is especially problematic in situations where 

safeguarding children and adults from harm must be the key factor in decision-making.  Additionally, 

there are many factors making the task even more difficult in recent years: increasing demand for 

services; new requirements from the Welsh and UK Governments; and the need to achieve budget 
savings in the face of reducing revenue.   

As part of the budget setting process Adult Social Care had identified significant service pressures of 

£9.534 million. To counter the pressures, efficiencies were identified and achieved in full of £5.052 

million.  The gap was bridged with cost mitigation due to early intervention and prevention through 

strengths-based practice and Technology Enabled Care (TEC) and the decision not to give an uplift to 

providers during the year. This has left the care market in a fragile position and may need to be 
addressed in the future.  

The Children’s Services budget was set with unfunded pressures of £2.599 million. Pressures of 

£6.25 million and the savings identified of £3.651 million, of which £1.26 million were delivered.  Of 

the £2.391 million unachieved savings, £1.704 million has been reinstated as part of the 2020/21 
budget setting process.  

It is recognised that the impact of the global pandemic, COVID-19 will be felt within the service for 

the year 2020/21.  Towards the end of 2019/20 the service had started to increase its spending in 

preparation for a potential surge in infection rates and demand for support.   However, this was 
funded by the Welsh Government.  

(c) Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability  

  

Working in partnership our Area Plan identifies which services will receive greatest priority in 

respect of integrated working between the Council, the health service and others, including:  

• Older people with complex needs and long-term conditions, including dementia   

• People with learning disabilities;   

• Carers, including young carers;   

• Integrated Family Support Services;   

• Children with complex needs due to disability or illness  

In line with the requirements of the Social Services and Well -being Act, the Regional Partnership 

Board (RPB) provides cross sector leadership through a strong and shared commitment to providing 

Page 45



seamless and integrated health and social care services for children, young people and adults living 
in Powys, with a primary emphasis on prevention and early intervention.   

To this end, we have developed a high-level, overarching plan called the Health and Care Strategy 

which sets out the strategic vision and approach to be taken in Powys.  The Area Plan will outline the 
priorities to be delivered over the first 5 years and identify the lead agency for delivery.     

The Health and Care Strategy priority areas are:  

• Wellbeing;  

• Early help and Support;  

• Tackling the Big Four (cancer, circulatory disease, respiratory disease, mental health)  

• Joined up Care.  

The RPB will also address the key strategic enablers outlined in the Health and Care Strategy which 
will help us to develop and deliver the proposed model of care including:  

• Workforce   

• Innovative environments  

• Digital First  

• Transforming in Partnership.  

Our renewed focus on our corporate leadership and governance through our vision 2025 plan sets 
out many challenges for us:  

• The Council will ensure that it’s vision for the future is promoted and understood by the 

officers, partners and residents.  

• The Council, members and officers will be open about what the most important issues are 
and focus on addressing them.   

• The Council will create a mutually supportive leadership culture, with clear roles between 
members and officers.  

• By strengthening the corporate centre, the Council can support a more delegated 

leadership structure.  

• Integrated Disability Service – We established the Integrated Disability Service (IDS) to 

include co-located multi-agency teams and a single management structure. An Integrated 

Disability Service triage process has been started. What were monthly physical meetings are 

now weekly meetings using Skype where needed. This gives quicker and more informed 
advice and action for children with disabilities or complex health needs.   

Page 46



 

Accessing Further Information and Key Documents  

  

In publishing this annual report, we have relied upon a substantial amount of information, data, 

progress reports including those that have featured heavily this year following our recent 

inspections, and surveys.   

The annual report identifies the progress of the Council in responding to the wellbeing of those 

people who need our help and support. This report however is not the only source of information 
available to members of the public, key partners and service providers.   

We have a significant amount of background information that sits behind this report that provide 

additional detail about what we do and how we do it. Importantly if something is not mentioned in 

this report as a key priority it doesn’t mean we’re not doing it, as there is a lot of activity across 

social services that plays a part in helping us to provide for some of the most vulnerable groups in 

our community. It’s not possible to capture everything which is why we are keen to signpost people 

to further information.  

To access further information about what we do then these are some of the documents that will 
provide more detail:  

• Powys County Council Corporate Leadership & Governance Plan 2017- 2020  

• Healthy Caring Powys – Delivering the Vision (Area Plan)  

• The Adult Services Improvement Plan 2018-2023  

• The Powys Population Needs Assessment  

• CIW Inspection Reports 2019 and 2020  

• Children’s Services Integrated Business Plan 2020-2023  

• Vision 2025Corporate Improvement Plan  

Page 47



 

Page 48



   

 

   

 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 
 

CABINET EXECUTIVE 

6 October 2020 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Myfanwy Alexander 

Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
  
REPORT TITLE: Taking a Break – Respite in Powys 

  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose  

 
1.1. The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act (SSWBA) promotes 

choice, flexibility and independence for people who need care and 
support and their carers by giving them more say in how their 
personal well-being outcomes can be achieved.  The SSWBA 
promotes giving individuals greater choice and control over the way 
in which services are designed and delivered. This approach is 
reflected in the Health and Care Strategy and Vision 2025. 

1.2. Powys County Council has, historically, been providing respite care 
according to legal requirements, with no formal respite policy in place 
over the last few years.   

1.3. This report introduces a new respite policy for Powys (please see 
Appendix I) and requests Cabinet’s agreement for the Council to 
implement. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1. Respite care is provided in a variety of ways in Powys for eligible 

adults.  Social workers work with individuals to identify care needs 
and carers’ needs and consider methods of providing respite care 
and support to enable carers to have a break from their caring roles 
for a period of time. 

2.2. The way in which this care is provided by the Council has changed 
in recent years. Formerly, the respite care needs of adults were met 
primarily through use of residential care facilities, both through block 
contracts and spot purchasing residential home placements where 
required.   

2.3. More recently, it has been recognised that service users and their 
families want increased flexibility in the way that respite care is 
provided. People have chosen to have this delivered through a 
variety of means, including direct payments, sitting services, and 
‘Shared Lives’ provision. 

2.4. The SSWBA also requires that Information, Advice and Assistance 
is easily available to the public and supports individuals and carers 
to continue to live independently and to do what matters to them. 

Page 49

6



   

 

   

 

2.5. In pursuance of this it was decided to prepare an easy to read policy 
document which could be used as an information leaflet for carers in 
Powys. 
 

3. Advice 

 
3.1. This policy has been consulted upon with: 

3.1.1.1. Adult Social Care Senior Management Team 

3.1.1.2. Social Services Leadership Team 

3.1.1.3. Credu – Powys Carers’ Organisation 

3.1.1.4. Powys Carers Steering Group 

 
3.2. All comments made have been incorporated into the final document. 

 
4. Resource Implications 

 
4.1. It is not anticipated that this policy will have a negative impact on the 

Council’s finances. 

4.2. The Deputy Section 151 Officer notes the contents of this report and 

confirms that it will not have a financial impact. 

 
5. Legal Implications 

 
5.1. THE SSWBA requires a local authority to work in partnership with 

individuals and their families and carers to ensure that services meet 

the care and support needs identified.  It also recognises the 

contribution people can make to their own well-being, and their 

responsibility to do so. (paragraph 7 code of practice part 4) 

5.2. A local authority must provide and keep under review support plans 
for carers. This is in order to promote consistency between plans for 
carers and to treat carers in the same way as people with needs for 
care and support. In some instances, an assessment may identify 
that where the person is a carer with support needs the local 
authority can meet those needs by providing care and support to the 
person cared for. This may be the case even when there is no duty 
to meet the needs of the person cared for and there is no separate 
care and support plan for that person.  (part 4, para 64) 

 
6. Data Protection 

 
6.1. This proposal does not involve the processing of personal data. 

 
7. Comment from Local Members 

 

7.1. Not applicable, as the policy is appropriate for the whole of the 

Council’s area. 

 
8. Integrated Impact Assessment 
 

Page 50



   

 

   

 

8.1. An Integrated Impact Assessment is attached. 

 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1. For Cabinet to agree the contents and implementation of the policy, 

as set out in Appendix I. 

9.2. For the Communications Team to develop the policy into a web-

document which can be printed as a leaflet for sharing. 

 
 

Contact Officer: Dylan Owen                                  Email: 
dylan.owen@powys.gov.uk   

 
Head of Service: Dylan Owen                            Corporate Director: Alison Bulman
   

 

 
  

Page 51

mailto:dylan.owen@powys.gov.uk


   

 

   

 

Appendix I 
 

Taking a Break 
Respite in Powys 

 

Title: Taking a Break: Respite in Powys Date: 1 August 2020 

Author: Dylan Owen Version: 5.0 

Status: Final for Cabinet Agreement Distribution SMT 

 

Are you a carer? 
 
Do you provide unpaid care for someone who is unwell, frail or has a disability? 
 
It is great to be able to provide care and it can be very rewarding and positive.  It is 
also possible to become tired and to feel that your emotional and physical health is 
being affected. It is important that carers have the opportunity to do other things in 
the community, or to access work or education. 
 
We consider you to be a carer if you provide unpaid support or care for a family 
member, partner, child, or friend because of their age, disability, physical or mental 
illness, substance misuse or other addiction and who cannot cope without your 
support. 
 
Anyone can be a carer, no matter what their age, gender or background. 
 
It is important that you are supported to be able to do what matters to you, including 
to continue being a carer. 
 

What is respite? 
 
If you are an unpaid carer and feel that you need a break from caring, we can provide 
‘respite care’.  Respite care aims to provide care for the person you care for, so that 
you can have a break.  This can be any of the following: 
 

• A Direct Payment: this is a payment that would be made to you or the cared-
for person so that you can purchase care, either at home, or somewhere else.  
This payment can be up to the normal cost of care or the amount we would 
pay for residential care for the same period of time or for the cost of a sitting 
service.  
 

• Residential Respite: this is where you can book a room in a residential care 
home for the cared-for person for a short period of time.  This could enable 
you, the carer, to go for a holiday or just to take a break and relax.  This could 

Page 52



   

 

   

 

be in a residential care home, or in one of many other options, such as in 
supported housing.  This type of respite is usually available for up to a fortnight, 
six times a year. 
 

• Replacement Care: if you are going away, we can pay for care workers to 
provide care for a short period to support the person for whom you usually 
provide care.  This would usually be for up to a fortnight. 
 

• Shorter Periods of Respite: we can arrange for you to have regular short 
periods of support. This can be from a few hours every week to a few days 
occasionally: 

◦ We can provide a ‘sitting service’ where the paid care worker will stay 
with the individual for a few hours on a regular basis, so that you can 
go about your regular business. 

◦ We have a ‘Shared Lives’ service, where the individual can stay with 
paid care workers for a short period of time.  This service has a ‘familial’ 
nature, in that the individual lives with another family for a period of 
time. 

 

• Children’s Short Breaks: there is short break provision for children in Powys to 
which we can help you gain access.  There is a separate short break policy 
statement available about this provision. 

 

Finding the right respite for you and the person who needs care 
 
To access respite care, you will need to contact social services through our call centre, 
ASSIST on this number: 0345 602 7050.  They will ask you about you and the person 
you care for, and they will try to find out what matters to you and what type of support 
you may like.  They will then, probably, ask a social worker to visit you.  The social 
worker will want to consider with you what type of support or respite would be most 
suitable and will then prepare a plan with you for your support and/or care.  Please 
note that the person you care for will need to agree to accept support from the 
Council. 
 
The social worker may also ask someone else to visit you in order to create a bespoke 
respite service specifically for you.  This would give you the chance to have flexible 
respite and for the support to be specially prepared for you (or the cared-for) and your 
interests.  Social services can provide information on respite available to individuals 
even if they intend funding this for themselves. 
 
Safeguarding people who receive respite is extremely important and we work with 
care providers to ensure that they comply with Wales Safeguarding Procedures and 
Care Inspectorate Wales’ requirements.  We also monitor the quality of services 
regularly in order to ensure that they are of the highest quality possible. 
 

How much can I have?  And do I have to pay? 

Page 53



   

 

   

 

 
The amount of respite care an individual may be offered will depend on their, or their 
carers’ individually assessed needs and circumstances.  The amount of respite will be 
written down in a formal plan.  This plan should aim to ensure that individuals and 
their carers can carry on with their caring role and support their wellbeing.  The plan 
should be reviewed annually or if there’s a change in your circumstances.  Different 
types of respite will be available for different time periods, but residential respite is 
usually available for up to a fortnight and up to six times a year 
 
Services to carers are free of charge in Powys, so because respite is a service to the 
unpaid carer, respite is almost always free of charge.  However, if the service is to 
provide personal care for the individual then the Council would need to undertake a 
financial assessment and charge based on disposable income, part of the “Welsh 
Government Charging for Community Services”, capped at £100 per week (please 
note that the cap may change and that the figure quoted relates to the amount during 
2020). 
  

Not all care is respite 
 
Respite is an occasional, but planned break.  It is not an emergency stay at residential 
care, nor a short term stay in residential care for whatever reason. 
 
Respite is not providing care for someone because there isn’t an unpaid carer available 
at short notice.  If that’s the case the person should have an assessment in their own 
right for care and support. 
 

Page 54



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 1  

 

 

Service Area Adult Social Care Head of Service Michael Gray Portfolio Holder Councillor Myfanwy Alexander 

Proposal The Introduction of a New Respite Policy for Powys 

Outline Summary / Description of Proposal 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act (SSWBA) promotes choice, flexibility and independence for people who need care and support and their carers by giving 
them more say in how their personal well-being outcomes can be achieved.  The SSWBA promotes giving individuals greater choice and control over the way in which 
services are designed and delivered. This approach is reflected in the Health and Care Strategy and Vision 2025. 

Powys County Council has, historically, been providing respite care according to legal requirements, with no formal respite policy in place over the last few years.  This 
report introduces a new respite policy for Powys and requests Cabinet’s agreement for the Council to implement. 

 
1.  Version Control (services should consider the impact assessment early in the development process and continually evaluate) 

Version Author Job Title Date 

1.0 Dylan Owen Head of Commissioning 18 August 2020 

    

    

 
2. Profile of savings delivery (if applicable) 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 TOTAL 

£N/A £ £ £ £ £ 

 
3. Consultation requirements 

Consultation Requirement Consultation deadline/or justification for no consultation 

Public and Staff consultation required 

Engagement undertaken with a wide variety of public forums and staffing groups.  This has 
included the Carers Steering Group, the Carers Forum, the Older Persons’ Forum, and 
partnerships within the Regional Partnership Board. 

 
 

Please read the accompanying guidance before completing the form. 
This Impact Assessment (IA) toolkit, incorporates a range of legislative requirements that support effective decision making and ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. 
Draft versions of the assessment should be watermarked as “Draft” and retained for completeness.  However, only the final version will be made publicly available. Draft versions 
may be provided to regulators if appropriate. In line with Council policy IAs should be retained for 7 years. 
 
 
 

P
age 55



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 2  

 

4. Impact on Other Service Areas 
 

Does the proposal have potential to impact on another service area? (Have you considered the implications on Health & Safety and Corporate Parenting?) 
PLEASE ENSURE YOU INFORM / ENGAGE ANY AFFECTED SERVICE AREAS AT THE EARLIEST OPPORTUNITY 

Adult Services       

Children’s Services       

Commissioning        

Digital Services     

Education        

Finance        

Highways, Transportation and Recycling     

Housing and Community Development     

Legal and Democratic Services       

Property, Planning and Public Protection     

Transformation and Communications   

Workforce and OD       

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Will the proposal involve processing the personal details of individuals? Yes  No  
Is Powys County Council the data controller? Yes  No   N/A 

If you have answered yes to either of the above you will be required to complete, as a minimum, the screening questions on the data protection impact assessment.  
For further advice please contact the Data Compliance Team. 

 
4a Geographical Locations 
 

What geographical area(s) will be impacted by the proposal? (Chose all those applicable) 

Powys       

 

North      

Mid         

South      

Brecon        

Builth and Llanwrtyd      

Crickhowell       

Hay and Talgarth      

Knighton and Presteigne     

Llandrindod and Rhayader   

Llanfair Caereinion      

Llanfyllin       

Llanidloes       

Machynlleth       

Newtown       

Welshpool and Montgomery     

Ystradgynlais       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 3  

 

5.  How does your proposal impact on Vision 2025? 
 

Council’s Well-being Objective 
How does the proposal impact on this Well-
being Objective? 

IMPACT 
Please select from drop 

down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a 
more positive impact or to mitigate any 
negative impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from drop 

down box below 

The Economy 
We will develop a vibrant economy 

Appropriate respite provision should 
increase carers’ potential to participate in 
employment 

Good N/A Good 

Health and Care 
We will lead the way in providing 
effective, integrated health and care 
in a rural environment 

The new respite policy should enable better 
support for individuals in their own 
communities and provides clarity on respite 
provision. 

Good N/A Good 

Learning and skills 
We will strengthen learning and 
skills 

Providing carers with the opportunities to 
have a regular break may enable them to 
access education or other learning 
opportunities. 

Good N/A Good 

Residents and Communities 
We will support our residents and 
communities 

Respite availability is essential in supporting 
residents to live their life and to continue in 
their caring roles. 

Good N/A Good 

  

P
age 57



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 4  

 

Source of Outline Evidence to support judgements 

The engagement undertaken.    Which article.    NHS Information.    Alzheimer’s Society Information.      Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Guide.   Social Care Wales Rapid Review.    
BBC Article on Older Persons’ Commissioner’s Work. 

 
6.  How does your proposal impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals? 

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 
IMPACT 

Please select from 
drop down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from 

drop down box below 

A prosperous Wales: 
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-educated 
population in an economy which generates 
wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work. 

Appropriate respite provision should increase 
carers’ potential to participate in training, 
education and employment 

Good  Good 

A resilient Wales: 
A nation which maintains and enhances a 
biodiverse natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support social, 
economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example 
climate change). 

This policy will support social resilience. Good  Good 

A healthier Wales: 
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in which 
choices and behaviours that benefit future 
health are understood. 

Public Health (Wales) Act, 2017: 
Part 6 of the Act requires for public bodies to 
undertake a health impact assessment to 
assess the likely effect of a proposed action or 
decision on the physical or mental health of 
the people of Wales. 

The new respite policy should enable better 
support for individuals in their own 
communities and provides clarity on respite 
provision. 

Good  Good 

P
age 58

https://www.which.co.uk/later-life-care/carers-and-caring/respite-care/respite-care-a70k01d51b48
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/support-and-benefits-for-carers/carer-breaks-and-respite-care/
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/factsheet_respite_care_in_wales.pdf
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Respite_Guide_online.sflb.ashx
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/Preventative-support-for-adult-carers-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-43896100


Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 5  

 

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 
IMPACT 

Please select from 
drop down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from 

drop down box below 

A Wales of cohesive communities: 
Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected 
Communities. 

Respite availability is essential in supporting 
residents to live their life and to continue in 
their caring roles. 

Good  Good 

A globally responsible Wales: 
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales, takes account 
of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global well-being. 

Human Rights - is about being 
proactive (see guidance) 
UN Convention on the Rights of the 
Child: 
The Convention gives rights to everyone under 
the age of 18, which include the right to be 
treated fairly and to be protected from 
discrimination; that organisations act for the 
best interest of the child; the right to life, 
survival and development; and the right to be 
heard. 

Providing carers with the opportunities to have 
a regular break will support with providing 
equal opportunities to access universal services 
and communities. 

Good  Good 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and recreation. 

Incorporating requirements under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards 

Opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and treating the Welsh language 
no less favourable than the English language  

N/A Neutral N/A Neutral 

Opportunities to promote the Welsh language N/A Neutral N/A Neutral 

People are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation. 

Providing carers with the opportunities to have 
a regular break will support with providing 
equal opportunities to access universal services 
and cultural opportunities. 

Good  Good 

A more equal Wales: A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or circumstances (including their socio economic background and circumstances). 

Incorporating requirements under the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Social Economic duty (2020). 

Age No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Disability 
Respite should support carers of people who 
have disabilities to maintain their caring role. Good  Good 

Gender reassignment No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

P
age 59



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 6  

 

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 
IMPACT 

Please select from 
drop down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative 
impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from 

drop down box below 

Marriage or civil partnership No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Race No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Religion or belief No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Sex No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Sexual Orientation No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Pregnancy and Maternity No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

Socio-economic duty No discriminatory impact. Neutral  Neutral 

  

P
age 60



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 7  

 

Source of Outline Evidence to support judgements 

The engagement undertaken.    Which article.    NHS Information.    Alzheimer’s Society Information.      Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Guide.   Social Care Wales Rapid Review.    
BBC Article on Older Persons’ Commissioner’s Work. 

 
7.  How does your proposal impact on the council’s other key guiding principles? 

Principle 
How does the proposal impact on this 
principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select from 

drop down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a 
more positive impact or to mitigate any 
negative impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from drop 

down box below 

Sustainable Development Principle (5 ways of working) 

Long Term:  Looking to the long term so 
that we do not compromise the ability of 
future generations to meet their own 
needs.  

Providing carers with the opportunities to have 
a regular break will support with providing 
equal opportunities to access universal services 
and communities. 

Good  Good 

Collaboration:  Working with others in 
a collaborative way to find shared 
sustainable solutions.  

Providing carers with the opportunities to have 
a regular break will support with providing 
equal opportunities to access universal services 
and cultural opportunities. 

Good  Good 

Involvement (including 
Communication and Engagement):  
Involving a diversity of the population in 
the decisions that affect them including: 

Unpaid Carers: 
Ensuring that unpaid carers views are 
sought and taken into account 

Providing carers with the opportunities to have 
a regular break will support with providing 
equal opportunities to access universal services 
and cultural opportunities. 

Good  Good 

Prevention:  Understanding the root 
causes of issues to prevent them from 
occurring including: 

Safeguarding: 
Preventing and responding to abuse 
and neglect of children, young people 
and adults with health and social care 
needs who can’t protect themselves. 

Respite should support carers of people who 
have disabilities to maintain their caring role. Good  Good 

P
age 61

https://www.which.co.uk/later-life-care/carers-and-caring/respite-care/respite-care-a70k01d51b48
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/support-and-benefits-for-carers/carer-breaks-and-respite-care/
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/factsheet_respite_care_in_wales.pdf
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Respite_Guide_online.sflb.ashx
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/Preventative-support-for-adult-carers-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-43896100


Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 8  

 

Principle 
How does the proposal impact on this 
principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select from 

drop down box below 

What will be done to better contribute to a 
more positive impact or to mitigate any 
negative impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select from drop 

down box below 

Integration:  Taking an integrated 

approach so that public bodies look at all 
the well-being goals in deciding on their 
well-being objectives.  

N/A Neutral  Neutral 

 

Powys County Council Workforce: 
What Impact will this change have on 
the Workforce? 

N/A Neutral  Neutral 

Payroll: How will this impact salary, 
any overtime/enhanced payments 
etc? Does this affect any particular 
group of employees? E.g. 
Male/Female dominated workforce. 
Does this proposal comply with the 
Councils Single Status Terms and 
Conditions? 

N/A Neutral  Neutral 

Welsh Language impact on staff N/A Neutral  Neutral 

Apprenticeships: 
Has consideration been given to 
whether this change impacts 
negatively, or positively on 
Apprenticeships within the service? 

N/A Neutral  Neutral 

Source of Outline Evidence to support judgements 

The engagement undertaken.    Which article.    NHS Information.    Alzheimer’s Society Information.      Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Guide.   Social Care Wales Rapid Review.    
BBC Article on Older Persons’ Commissioner’s Work. 

 
 
8. What is the impact of this proposal on our communities? 
 

P
age 62

https://www.which.co.uk/later-life-care/carers-and-caring/respite-care/respite-care-a70k01d51b48
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/support-and-benefits-for-carers/carer-breaks-and-respite-care/
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/factsheet_respite_care_in_wales.pdf
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Respite_Guide_online.sflb.ashx
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/Preventative-support-for-adult-carers-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-43896100


Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 9  

 

Communities 
How does the proposal impact on 
residents and community? 

IMPACT 
See impact definitions 
in guidance document 

What will be done to better 
contribute to a more positive 
impact or to mitigate any 
negative impacts? 

IMPACT AFTER 
MITIGATION 

See impact definitions 
in guidance document 

Source of Outline 
Evidence to support 
judgement 

 
 
 
 

Providing carers with the opportunities 
to have a regular break will support 
with providing equal opportunities to 
access universal services and 
communities. 

Moderate This is a positive impact. Moderate As set out above 

 
9.  What are the risks to service delivery or the council following implementation of this proposal?  
 

Description of risks 

Risk Identified 

Inherent Risk Rating 
Impact X Likelihood (See 
Risk Matrix in guidance 
document)  

Mitigation 

Residual Risk Rating 
Impact X Likelihood (See 
Risk Matrix in guidance 
document) 

N/A    

    

 
10.  Overall Summary and Judgement of this Impact Assessment? 

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in cabinet report) Cabinet Report Reference:  

The introduction of a new respite policy does not contain any negative impacts and only provides positive opportunities for individuals, service users, carers and communities. 

 
11.  Is there additional evidence to support the Impact Assessment (IA)? 

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 

As set out above. 

 
12.  On-going monitoring arrangements? 

What arrangements will be put in place to monitor the impact over time? 

Regular reviews with individual service users. 

Please state when this Impact Assessment will be reviewed. 

P
age 63



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 10  

 

On review of the respite policy. 

 
13.  Sign Off 

Position Name Signature Date 

Impact Assessment Lead: Dylan Owen Dylan Owen 18 August 2020 

Head of Service: Michael Gray  18 Augusts 2020 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Myfanwy Alexander   

 
14. Governance 

Decision to be made by Council Date required 06 October 2020 

 
 

FORM ENDS 
 

P
age 64



Document is Restricted

Page 65

8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Director of Social Services Annual Report
	6 Carers Respite Policy
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	1. Purpose
	2. Background
	2.1. Respite care is provided in a variety of ways in Powys for eligible adults.  Social workers work with individuals to identify care needs and carers’ needs and consider methods of providing respite care and support to enable carers to have a break...
	2.2. The way in which this care is provided by the Council has changed in recent years. Formerly, the respite care needs of adults were met primarily through use of residential care facilities, both through block contracts and spot purchasing resident...
	2.3. More recently, it has been recognised that service users and their families want increased flexibility in the way that respite care is provided. People have chosen to have this delivered through a variety of means, including direct payments, sitt...
	2.4. The SSWBA also requires that Information, Advice and Assistance is easily available to the public and supports individuals and carers to continue to live independently and to do what matters to them.
	2.5. In pursuance of this it was decided to prepare an easy to read policy document which could be used as an information leaflet for carers in Powys.
	3. Advice
	4. Resource Implications
	5. Legal Implications
	6. Data Protection
	7. Comment from Local Members
	8. Integrated Impact Assessment
	9. Recommendation
	Appendix I
	Carers Respite Cabinet Report Impact Assessment

	8 Valuing Care (Residential)

